#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Co	ourt Case
	No. 94,239	
Complainant,		
v.	The Florida	Bar File
	No. 97-70,6	555(11F)
ELENA C. TAULER,		
Respondent.		
	/	
Complainant's Initial Brief		

CYNTHIA ANN LINDBLOOM Bar Counsel

TFB #0016421 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100

Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BERRY

Staff Counsel TFB #0253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar filed a complaint against the Respondent dated November 3,

1998. The parties submitted the following stipulation of facts to the Referee on April 12, 1999:

Comes now, The Florida Bar, by and through the undersigned attorney, and offers this Court the following Statement of Facts, stipulated and agreed to by The Florida Bar, Complainant, and Elena C. Tauler, Respondent, in this matter:

- 1. Respondent is and was, at all times material herein a member of The Florida Bar subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.
- 2. Respondent was a partner in the law firm of Tauler & Shearin (hereafter referred to as the "Firm"), although there was no formal partnership agreement or incorporation.
  - 3. In or about May, 1996, the Firm was dissolved.
- 4. At the time of the dissolution, Shearin left the office, and left Respondent with the control and responsibility of most cases and trust funds of the firm, including \$35,522.54. (hereinafter identified as "Olivia [sic] Medicaid Funds")
- 5. On or about June 4, 1996, Respondent opened a trust account identified as, Elena C. Tauler, Esq. & Associates Trust Account #606104994-06 maintained at Totalbank (hereinafter identified as "New Account")
- 6. New Account was opened with the transfer of \$38,194.13 from the Firm's Account, as well as \$18,177.26 from the trust account identified as, Elena C. Tauler & Associates, Inc., Escrow Account #606104444-06, maintained at Totalbank (hereinafter refered as "Old Account"), for a total of \$56,371,39.

- 7. Included in the funds transferred from Old Account was \$14,064.80, held in trust for Manuel and Vilma Gomez (hereinafter identified as "Gomez Funds")
- 8. During the months of June and July, 1996, Respondent issued three checks from the New Account. The total of said checks was \$39,500.00.
- 9. Said checks were made out to Respondent or Respondent's Operating Account.
- 10. Respondent used said funds to satisfy personal and business obligations unrelated to the Olivia [sic] or Gomez matters.
- 11. On or about September 9, 1996, Respondent deposited \$3,250.00 into New Account. Said funds pertained to Respondent's client, Angel Armas. (hereinafter identified as "Armas Funds")
- 12. On or about October 8, 19996, Respondent issued a check in the amount of \$17,128.45 from New Account.
- 13. On or about October 8, 1996, New Account had a zero balance.
- 14. On or about October 8, 1996, New Account should have had a balance of at least \$51,654.01, reflecting the Olivia [sic] Funds, the Gomez Funds, and the Armas Funds.
- 15. On or about November 30, 1996, Respondent deposited in New Account a cashier's check in the amount of \$28,000.00, received from her husband Joaquin E. Tomas.
- 16. On or about December 3, 19996, Respondent deposited \$9,000.00 in cash into New Account.
- 17. On or about December 3, 1996, the balance in New Account was \$37,000.00.

- 18. On or about December 4, 1996, Respondent disbursed the \$35,522.54 Medicaid/Olivia [sic] Funds to Olivia [sic] at Olivia's request.
- 19. On or about January 31, 1997, Respondent disbursed \$2,066.67 to Armas. The source of the funds used to reimburse Armas was a check for \$32,000.00 from a corporation owned by Respondent's husband.
- 20. In February, 1997, Respondent disbursed \$14,064.80 to Manuel and Vilma Gomez. The source of the funds was recently earned attorney's fees.

In addition to the stipulated facts, the Bar introduced the testimony of witness Judy Heren (T. 4/12/99, p. 40 ff) and entered twelve exhibits into evidence (TFB Exhs. 1-12, p. 63). The Bar's exhibits included a letter dated January 12, 1996, addressed to Ms. Elena C. Tauler, 3939 Ponce de Leon Blvd., and attorney John J. Phillips, 230 Catalonia Avenue. The letter advised the recipients of the "perfected" Medicaid lien" and provided a copy of the same. (TFB Exhs. 1 and 2). Alan Hodin, Esquire, transferred the medicaid funds by a check dated March 18, 1996, to the Tauler and Shearin Trust Account. The check bore the notation, "Dalia Oliva v. Amoco, Funds held for Medicaid Lien." (TFB Exh. 3). Tauler's partner, Robert Shearin, acknowledged the lien on behalf of the firm in a letter dated March 18, 1996 (TFB Exh. 4). Medicaid rejected Shearin's request for reduction of the lien and demanded the full amount of \$35,522.54 in a letter dated April 25, 1996 (Exh. 5). On December 3, 1996, one month after the Bar received a complaint about the Medicaid

funds (TFB Exh. 12), Tauler prepared a release and indemnity agreement. Tauler gave \$35,522.35 to Dalia Oliva, pursuant to the release and indemnity agreement, in which the client "assumed responsibility for any alleged lien ... from Medicaid or any other party."

More than a month prior to the execution of the release and indemnity agreement, Robert Shearin, Tauler's former partner, wrote to Tauler and stated:

As you are aware, when I left the firm in May, I turned the trust account funds over to your P.A. trust account which included \$35,224.54 to cover the above lien. I was told the lien would be paid immediately. I am astonished that it has not been paid." (TFB Exh. 11).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Referee found that the Respondent violated Rule 4-1.15(a) (safekeeping property, client's and third party funds to be held in trust), Rule 4-1.15(b) (prompt delivery of client funds), and Rule 5-1.1(a) (money entrusted must be used for specific purpose) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The Referee found that there were two aggravating factors: selfish motive and multiple offenses (Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyers Sanctions, 9.22(b) and (d)). He found mitigation to include: personal and emotional problems, positive character and reputation, timely good faith restitution effort, and full and free disclosure, and remorse (Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, 9.31(c), (d), (e), (g) and (h)).

The Bar sought disbarment. The Referee recommended a three year

suspension. The Bar filed a Petition for Review, seeking review of the recommendation of discipline.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Respondent stipulated to the basic facts of the case. The stipulation established that the Respondent depleted her trust account by issuing checks to herself. She misappropriated the funds of three clients.

Based upon the stipulation, witness testimony, and documentary evidence, the Referee determined that the Respondent was guilty of the following violations: Rule 4-1.15(a) (safekeeping property, client's and third party funds to be held in trust), Rule 4-1.15(b) (prompt delivery of client funds), and Rule 5-1.1(a) (money entrusted for a specific purpose must be used only for that purpose) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The Bar submits that based upon those violations, the Respondent should be disbarred. The <u>Shanzer</u>, and <u>Shuminer</u> cases, discussed in detail in the Argument portion of the brief, are disbarment cases involving the same rule violations, aggravating, and mitigating factors.

The finding of timely good faith restitution as a mitigating factor cannot be justified in view of Florida Standard for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, 9.4(a), which states that forced or compelled restitution cannot be utlized as mitigation. Restitution was made in the instant case only after the Bar began its investigation. Therefore, there is, in fact, less mitigation in this case than in the Shanzer, and Shuminer<sup>1</sup>, which

See, however, <u>The Florida Bar v. Kassier</u>, 711 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1998).

both call for disbarment.

## **POINT ON APPEAL**

# WHETHER DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE FOR THE RESPONDENT?

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE FOR THE RESPONDENT

This Court's scope of review of recommended discipline is broader than that afforded to findings of fact because this Court has the ultimate responsibility to determine the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504 (Fla. 1999). The Bar recognizes that disbarment is the ultimate penalty. The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 342 So.2d 970, 971 (Fla. 1977). However, there is a presumption in favor of disbarment in misappropriation cases. The Florida Bar v. Farbstein, 570 So.2d 933 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar v. Newman, 513 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1987).

At least one case is virtually identical to the instant case from the standpoint of violations, mitigation, and aggravation. Disbarment was ordered in <a href="The Florida Bar v.">The Florida Bar v.</a>
<a href="Shanzer">Shanzer</a>, 572 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1991). Shanzer was also guilty of misappropriation of funds and causing trust account shortages. The aggravating factors were virtually identical, namely, dishonest or selfish motive, a pattern of misconduct, and multiple offenses. The mitigation was also virtually identical. The Referee found emotional problems, full cooperation, remorse, rehabilitation, and the payment of restitution.

This Court held that:

In the case before us, we likewise fail to find that the mitigating evidence submitted warrants a discipline less than disbarment. Respondent argues that his depression, primarily over his marital and economic problems, led him to use his trust account for personal purposes. These problems, unfortunately, are visited upon a great number of lawyers. Clearly, we cannot excuse an attorney for dipping into his trust funds as a means of solving personal problems. We recognize that mental problems as well as alcohol and drug problems may impair judgment so as to diminish culpability. However, we do not find that the referee abused his discretion in not finding this to be one of those cases.

We are not unmindful of Respondent's cooperation with the Bar and restitution efforts, and these efforts should be considered upon any reapplication for membership in The Florida Bar. (At 1383-84; emphasis supplied).

The Florida Bar v. Shuminer, 567 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990), is another misappropriation case in which this Court ordered disbarment. The Referee found that nine mitigating factors were applicable. All five of the mitigating factors in this case were among those nine. In Shuminer, there were no aggravating factors.

Nevertheless, this Court rejected the Referee's recommendation of an eighteen month suspension. The ruling stressed that the mitigating factor of the Respondent's emotional problems were not significant enough to impair Respondent's performance as an attorney. In this case as well, there is no apparent causal relation between Respondent's emotional problems and the nature of her conduct.

This Court stated in **Shuminer** that:

We find this case to be nearly identical to that

presented in The Florida Bar v. Knowles, 500 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1986), another instance of misappropriation of trust account funds. There, even though Knowles made full restitution, had no prior disciplinary records, and had successfully completed an alcoholic rehabilitation program, we found that disbarment was appropriate. We pointed out that during the period when the misconduct occurred, Knowles had continued to work regularly and his income did not diminish discernibly as a result of his alcoholism. So too here, Shuminer has failed to establish that his addictions rose to a sufficient level of impairment to outweigh the seriousness of his offenses. He continued to work effectively during the period in issue, and he used a significant portion of the stolen funds not to support or conceal his addictions but rather to purchase a luxury automobile. "In the hierarchy of offenses for which lawyers may be disciplined, stealing from a client must be among those at the very top of the list." The Florida Bar v. Tunsil, 503 So.2d 1230, 1231 (Fla. 1996). Accordingly, we disbar Jeffrey Shuminer for a period of five years ... (at 432-33; Emphasis supplied)

This case is characterized by a dual misuse of the Oliva funds. First, the funds were used for personal and business purposes, then after the trust funds were replaced, they were transferred improperly to the client while subject to a Medicaid lien. Thus, the violations were <u>more</u> extensive than two otherwise comparable cases, <u>Shanzer</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Shuminer</u>, <u>supra</u>, which resulted in disbarment. Additionally, in this case, the misappropriated funds belonged to not just one, but three clients. Therefore, disbarment is clearly appropriate.

In addition, disbarment is appropriate because the mitigating factor of timely

good faith restitution was improperly invoked. The evidence in regard to restitution is uncontradicted. The funds were transferred to Respondent's new trust account in June of 1996. (TFB Exh. 12). The trust account was relatively small and the \$35,522.54 was the major part of the account which had also received a transfer of \$18,177.26 to the "Elena C. Tauler and Associates Trust Account." (TFB Exh. 12).

The trust funds of the firm including the \$35,522.54 identified as Oliva/Medical Funds were deposited in an account by the Respondent. (Stip. Para. 4, 5). Respondent Tauler issued three checks to herself or her operating account to satisfy personal and business obligations (Stip. Para. 8, 9, 10). There were also funds belonging to other clients, Gomez and Armas, in the account prior to its total depletion (Stip. Para. 7, 11, 13).

What evidence has the Respondent furnished which established timely good faith restitution? The Gomez and Armas trust account funds were not paid to the clients until after a delay of at least eight months for Gomez, and four months for Armas. (Stip. 11, 19). There is no evidence that the funds restored to the depleted trust account were furnished in a timely manner. Furthermore, forced or compelled restitution cannot be used in mitigation. Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, 9.4(a).

The \$35,522.54 demanded by the agency for Health Care Administration of the

State of Florida, the lien holder, in April of 1996 (TFB Exh. 1), was delivered by the Tauler firm in December of 1996 (TFB Exh. 12), and was <u>never</u> delivered to the Agency.

Furthermore, what evidence has the Respondent furnished of "good faith"? The funds restored to the trust account were delivered to the former client, Oliva, and not to the Agency that held the lien.

In addition, the restoration and delivery of funds in respect to all three clients did not take place until after the Bar commenced an investigation. (TFB Exh. 12). Restitution under those circumstances, i.e., compulsion, cannot serve as evidence of good faith mitigation. Standard, 9.4(a), supra.

Clearly, there is no proof of either timely or good faith restitution.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that the Respondent be disbarred.

**CYNTHIA ANN LINDBLOOM** 

Bar Counsel TFB No. 0016421 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 Tel: (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel TFB No. 253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (904) 561-5600