## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	
Complainant, v. ELENA C. TAULER,	SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 94,239 THE FLORIDA BAR FILE NO.97-70,655(11F)
Respondent.	
/	
RESP	ONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

SCOTT W. SAKIN, P.A. Attorney for Respondent 1411 N.W. North River Drive Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-0007 Fla. Bar No. 349089

#

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In the summer of 1996, Respondent improperly used funds from her trust account.

In March, 1998, Respondent stopped practicing law due to her misconduct. In November, 1998, The Florida Bar served a Complaint upon Respondent. On December

9, 1998, Respondent admitted the underlying facts which gave rise to the Complaint.

The Referee held a hearing in 1999 and determined that Respondent violated various rules regulating The Florida Bar. The Referee found, pursuant to 9.32, Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, that Respondent suffered from personal or emotional problems; made a timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of her misconduct; made full and free disclosure to Disciplinary Board; had a cooperative attitude towards the proceedings; had a positive character and reputation; and was remorseful. In addition, the Referee found the Respondent was amenable to rehabilitation.

Finally, the Referee found that a suspension protects the public from unethical conduct and, at the same time, does not deny the public the services of an otherwise qualified and compassionate lawyer.

Rule 3-7.7(c)(5) regulating The Florida Bar places the burden upon The Florida Bar as the party seeking review to demonstrate that the Report of Referee is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. In light of the record in this case, along with the facts in mitigation, The Florida Bar simply cannot make any showing that the Referee's Report is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified.

## **POINT ON APPEAL**

Whether the Referee's recommendation of a three year suspension followed by one year probation, trust account monitoring, initial LOMAS review, and restitution is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# SUSPENSION, PROBATION, AND THE CONDITIONS OF PROBATION ARE THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE FOR THE RESPONDENT.

Respondent agrees that this Court's scope of review of recommended discipline is broader than that afforded to findings of fact because this Court has the ultimate responsibility to determine the appropriate sanction.

Complainant relies upon *The Florida Bar v. Shanzer*, 572 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1991). The Referee in *Shanzer*, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating factors, determined that disbarment was appropriate. The Referee in the instant case did not simply add the X's and O's, that is, the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The Referee carefully weighed each aggravator and mitigator in making the determination that suspension was appropriate.

The Complainant also relies upon *The Florida Bar v. Shuminer*, 567 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990), standing for the proposition that disbarment is the only appropriate remedy in cases of misappropriation.

In the instant case, the Referee made specific findings that Respondent suffered from personal or emotional problems, made a timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct, made a full and free disclosure to disciplinary board, was cooperative toward the proceedings, had a positive attitude and reputation, and

was remorseful. The Referee further found (at page 8 of the Report of Referee):

"It is obvious that Respondent, Elena C. Tauler, is amenable to rehabilitation. Under the facts and circumstances of this case, suspension protects the public from unethical conduct and, at the same time, does not deny the public the services of an otherwise qualified and compassionate lawyer."

The Court heard overwhelming testimony from Carmen Melendez, the Project Director of the Community Action Winners Net, which assists primarily indigent and immigrant persons with domestic relation legal problems. Respondent was essentially the staff attorney, dedicating hundreds of hours assisting poor people who otherwise would have received little or no legal help. Respondent assisted hundreds of primarily women on a pro bono basis.

Thus, there was a finding that Respondent is amenable to rehabilitation and that suspension fulfills the goals of The Florida Bar in protecting the public from unethical conduct and while at the same time not denying the public the services of an otherwise qualified attorney.

The Bar suggests there is no apparent relationship between Respondent's emotional problems and the nature of her misconduct. After hearing from Respondent and Respondent's husband, along with Reverend Cruz, the Referee found (at page 7 of the Report of Referee):

"The Respondent, indeed, suffered from personal and emotional problems. The testimony of her husband, Dr. Tomas (no longer practicing surgical oncology), was very disturbing. It was patently obvious that he was the prime mover in the wrongdoings committed by Respondent. Dr. Tomas was an overbearing husband who had surgeries on his own back and had recently lost his own surgical practice. This coincided with his own bankruptcy, screaming and yelling at Respondent, throwing objects against the wall at Respondent, and his brow-beating of Respondent at a time when they were losing their home. (Respondent is the mother of five children, three of them with Dr. Tomas)." Emphasis added.

Dr. Tomas indicated that because of financial demands he placed great pressure on Respondent. (T. 90) Respondent was against the idea of removing additional monies from the trust account for any reason. Respondent refused to take additional trust funds under any circumstances. This created a great deal of tension in the relationship between Dr. Tomas and Respondent. (T. 92) Dr. Tomas felt that Respondent was being uncooperative with him by not wanting to take additional trust funds. (T. 93) Dr. Tomas would pressure the Respondent to cooperate with him on a daily basis, constantly arguing in the months of June and July 1996. Respondent finally agreed with his idea out of desperation and due to Dr. Tomas' overwhelming pressure, which wore her will down. Respondent was in fear of her husband due to his abusive and domineering attitude towards her. (T. 94)

Dr. Tomas admitted to episodes of physical violence in which he never struck the Respondent but did throw objects against the wall, break doors, and shout at Respondent.

(T. 96) This constant arguing and physical violence spanned a period of approximately three to four months, from June 1996 through October 1996. (T. 97) Dr. Tomas was extremely volatile due to his physical condition. Dr. Tomas was irritable and intimidating and would throw objects against the wall. (T. 132) Respondent was intimidated and also scared for her small children. (T.132,133)

Dr. Tomas pressured Respondent on a daily basis to remove more funds from the trust account to refinance their mortgage. (T. 133) Dr. Tomas felt that the end justified the means, however, Respondent did not see it that way. It was the undue pressure from Respondent that Dr. Tomas placed on his wife, the Respondent. Although this does not excuse Respondent's poor judgment in misusing the trust funds, it is a mitigating factor.

Complainant suggests that Respondent did not make a timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of her misconduct. There is little question that Respondent attempted to rectify the consequences of the misappropriation of funds. No client lost a dime. The funds were eventually returned to Dalia Oliva. The Agency for Healthcare has made no effort whatsoever to seek the funds from Dalia Oliva. The Release and Indemnity Agreement (TFB Exhibit 6) released Respondent and Robert Shearin. The agreement required that Dalia Oliva, under oath, deposit the funds in a separate account and not release or disburse those funds until Oliva reached a settlement with Medicaid, or received a release from Medicaid. The Agency for Healthcare knew,

according to the letter from the Agency for Healthcare dated February 14, 1997 (TFB Exhibit 7), that it was the Agency for Healthcare's understanding that the funds were paid from attorney Tauler to the Lopez family. Judith Hefren has testified that she is unaware of any efforts made by the Agency for Healthcare to recoup these funds or request the funds from Dalia Oliva. (T. 61)

Thus, two years before the hearing in this case, the Agency for Healthcare was aware that the funds were transferred from Respondent to Dalia Oliva. Nevertheless, the Agency for Healthcare has made no effort or requests for the funds from Dalia Oliva. There was ample testimony from Dr. Tomas and Respondent of the efforts made to replace the misappropriated funds (refinancing the house). Again, this does not excuse the misappropriation of the funds. It does mitigate Respondent's improper actions.

Dr. Tomas was approached by the Respondent, in a panic, when the original \$16,000 trust account deficit was discovered. (T. 87) Dr. Tomas and Respondent agreed to refinance their home. (T. 88) This was done at great expense. (T. 90)

The Complainant does not dispute that Respondent made full and free disclosure to The Florida Bar or that Respondent has had a cooperative attitude toward the proceedings. The Florida Bar does not contest that Respondent is remorseful. The Referee found, in the Report of Referee, at page 8:

"A final mitigating factor is the uncontroverted remorse shown by Respondent; I find her credible as to how sorry she was for her actions. This testimony is buttressed by the testimony of Reverend Cruz, counselor to Respondent and her husband, who elaborated concerning Respondent's remorse and her admission to him in 1996 that she had done wrong. "

Reverend Cruz stated Respondent admitted her violation of The Florida Bar rules and her remorse. (T. 79) This situation caused a strain on the marriage. (T. 79) Respondent did not agree with her husband who was adamant that what she did was justifiable. Respondent knew that what she had done was wrong. (T. 81)

In *The Florida Bar v. Kassier*, 711 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1998), the attorney wrote numerous trust account checks off a worthless account, misappropriated client funds, commingled funds, and failed to inform clients about their cases. The court ordered a one year suspension, three years probation, LOMAS review, along with monthly trust account reports. *Kassier's* mitigation was that he was intelligent, committed to law practice, was under emotional stress, and his inability to manage his practice. However, in aggravation, Kassier continued to write checks that had no sufficient funds, did not repay the parties, did not cooperate with The Bar, and did not admit wrongdoing.

In the instant case, Respondent not only has accepted complete responsibility for her actions, but also voluntarily stopped practicing law in March, 1998 because she did not want to take on new clients until this matter was resolved. (T. 139) Respondent was well aware that there would be repercussions from The Florida Bar for her actions and

did not want to leave clients without counsel. (T. 139)

The Florida Bar seeks disbarment in every misappropriation case. If disbarment was the only discipline for misappropriation, there would be no reason for the Referee to make a recommendation. There are many examples where attorneys have commingled or used trust funds for other purposes but received less than disbarment. 90 day suspension, restitution to the client, *The Florida Bar v. Thomas*, 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997); one year suspension, rehabilitation, retake ethics portion of Bar exam, The Florida Bar v. Krasnove, 697 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 1997); 90 day suspension, The Florida Bar v. Kramer, 643 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1994); ethics portion of Bar exam, two year suspension, The Florida Bar v. Corces, 639 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 1994); one year suspension, rehabilitation, trust account seminars and two years probation, The Florida Bar v. Borja, 609 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1992); 24 month suspension and a showing of rehabilitation, The Florida Bar v. Rosen, 608 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1992); 90 day suspension, ethics portion of Bar exam, The Florida Bar v. Fine, 607 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1992); Two year suspension, ethics portion of Bar exam, *The Florida Bar v. MacMillan*, 600 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1992); eighteen month suspension, The Florida Bar v. Adler, 589 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1991). Filed with the court, and part of this record, is the Respondent Elena C. Tauler's Case Law Summary Chart which was relied upon by the trial court in recommending discipline. (T. 302, 303)

The Referee's recommended discipline meets this three-fold test of *Kassier*.

"Attorney discipline must meet a three-fold test. It must be fair to society by protecting the public from unethical conduct but not denying the public the services of an otherwise qualified lawyer. It must be fair to the attorney by sufficiently punishing ethical breaches but at the same time encouraging reformation and rehabilitation. It must be severe enough to deter others prone to commit similar violations. Citations omitted. We have noted that "the extreme sanction of disbarment is to be imposed only 'in those rare cases where rehabilitation is highly improbable." *The Florida Bar v. Kassier*, 711 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1998)."

A three year suspension is certainly severe punishment. It will protect the public from unethical conduct, but at the same time will allow Respondent, who is an attorney committed to the practice of law, and who has shown, through the testimony of Carmen Melendez and Reverend Cruz, is an attorney who serves the public. Respondent's commitment to pro bono work, dedicating hours on weekends helping poor, impoverished, and disadvantaged persons is something that the Bar should be proud of. It is something that will be continued if Respondent is permitted to practice law in the future.

The Bar does not dispute, and the Referee found, that Respondent is a candidate for rehabilitation. It is apparent from the record and the Referee's Report that Respondent can be reformed. The recommended discipline fashioned by the Referee is designed to assist Respondent in reforming her conduct. Respondent cooperated with the

Bar and acknowledged her wrongdoing upon receiving the Complaint from The Florida Bar.

Respondent is required to undertake a LOMAS review, will be on probation if she is re-admitted to the Bar, and will have to make monthly trust account reports. The discipline in this case is severe, meaningful, and appropriate. The Florida Bar cannot demonstrate that the Report of the Referee, and the recommendations therein, are erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. A complete review of this record demonstrates that the Referee carefully sifted through the aggravating and mitigating factors and fashioned a punishment appropriate for the Respondent's actions. That discipline should be approved by this Court.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, the Respondent, Elena C. Tauler, respectfully requests that the Report of Referee be accepted and ratified with the Respondent suspended as set forth in that report.